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INTRODUCTION TO THE 2025 EDITION


Central London’s Hyde Park Gate, with its well-kept white painted Georgian houses and neatly tended flowerbeds, conveys an air of tranquillity. It projects the very idea the English have of themselves: calm and in control. It was here that Winston Churchill drew his last breath, and where Virginia Woolf lived.


Over at number 45, a two and a half storey mansion, the situation was usually serene, but on this particular day, the atmosphere was somewhat fevered. Stoke Lodge, as it’s known, is the home of the Australian high commissioner to the United Kingdom. Midsummer dawn is early in the northern hemisphere, but Stephen Smith had been up when the sun’s first rays lit up the mansion’s garden beds and an unusual topiary, a bush cut in the shape of a kangaroo.


He had a big day ahead.


At 6 a.m. three of the world’s most prominent barristers would be at his gate. Smith wasn’t just Australia’s leading diplomat in the United Kingdom, he held the passport of the world’s most famous prisoner, his fellow Australian citizen, WikiLeaks founder Julian Assange. If everything went according to plan on that day, 24 June 2024, Assange would need that passport.


Smith welcomed the three barristers: Gareth Peirce, who had represented Assange during his interminable UK court hearings; Barry Pollack, his US attorney; and Jennifer Robinson, who had been by Assange’s side since he became a US target for exposing evidence of Washington’s war crimes in 2010. As they planned the day ahead in the high commissioner’s luxurious home with its glittering chandeliers, grand piano, elegantly upholstered furniture and Regency wallpaper, there could not have been a greater contrast to where they would be travelling.


Twenty kilometres away at Belmarsh Prison on the banks of the River Thames in East London, Julian Assange was already up. The prison guards had woken him at 2 a.m. An austere gulag of a place, Belmarsh Prison is rightly called Britain’s Guantánamo. It’s where terrorists and murderers are held. Assange had been imprisoned there for more than five years, since he was arrested in 2019— dragged out of London’s Ecuadorian Embassy, where he had been given political asylum in 2012.


Smith and the legal team made the drive across London to meet Assange and plan their next moves. Although Belmarsh was not that far away, the journey took 50 minutes; that Monday morning, London traffic was already clogging the roads.


Assange hoped he had spent his last night in prison, but there were still a number of legal processes to go through, and Assange had learned from bitter experience not to be too optimistic. Until Labor’s election win in 2022, he had received little support from his own government; Smith, a Labor appointee, was the only high commissioner who had visited Assange in Belmarsh. The hatred for Assange, particularly from Australia’s former conservative governments, was palpable. His crime wasn’t that he’d killed anyone—he’d simply pointed the finger at those who had. In 2010 his WikiLeaks organisation had revealed documentary evidence of war crimes committed by the United States, aided by the United Kingdom and Australia, during its 2003 invasion and occupation of Iraq. Instead of investigating the crimes, the United States began building a case against Assange for revealing the truth.


They hunted him for nearly a decade, and it had taken a toll on both his physical and mental health. As Assange huddled down every night in his six metre by three metre cell, the victim of what the United Nations described as torture, the architects of the war the UK’s Tony Blair, US President George W Bush and Australian Prime Minister John Howard—slept, apparently untroubled by the horror they had unleashed on the Iraqi people and the hundreds of thousands they had been responsible for killing.


Assange’s prosecution had been a demonstrable case of payback. He had been charged with seventeen breaches of the US Espionage Act of 1917 for what national security journalists do every day: reveal unpleasant truths about the actions of executive government. Journalists and publishers have always been protected from prosecution by the US Constitution’s First Amendment, which guarantees free speech—until now. Assange’s prosecution was the first.


And now, in 2024, came another turn in the legal process. At the highest levels of government in Australia, the United States and the United Kingdom, a deal had been struck to free Assange. This wasn’t a plea deal cooked up by the US Department of Justice prosecutors. There had been lengthy direct talks between US President Joe Biden and Australian Prime Minister Anthony Albanese. All but one of the charges against Assange would be dropped—at least that was the arrangement.


But on that summer’s day in London, as they travelled to Belmarsh Prison, it was touch and go whether or not the deal would go through. For an organisation like WikiLeaks, dedicated to transparency, it might have seemed ironic but the whole operation needed to be kept secret—particularly from the media. Even the bail hearing that would allow Assange to leave prison had needed to be covert. If word leaked out, the whole deal might fall apart.


It might have been reasonably assumed that since Assange was headed for freedom he wouldn’t try to escape. He could have been taken quietly from Belmarsh Prison to Stansted Airport, north of London, an hour’s drive along the M11 motorway. Instead, handcuffed in the rear seat of a police car (part of an eight-car convoy) with a helicopter hovering overhead, Assange was driven at top speed towards Stansted.


As the cavalcade pulled up at the airport, the only people disappointed at what was happening were the young Taylor Swift fans who had turned up in their hundreds. Whether or not they were Assange supporters has never been investigated but there was one agreed fact: they were avid followers of planned flights for the Bombardier Global 6000 private jet Swift had once hired, which would now be used to fly Assange out of the United Kingdom. If it was at Stansted, she couldn’t be far away, the Swifties reasoned.


Kristinn Hrafnsson, the WikiLeaks editor-in-chief, recounts the look on the Swifties’ faces when instead of Swift, they saw a middleaged man with a shock of white hair making his way towards the plane. It would be true to say that they were ‘a bit taken aback’, he said. Only later did Swift arrive, to catch another plane. It was a bizarre day at Stanstead. Locked inside the airport terminal with a police guard, the legal team plotted their next move. For the first time in more than five years, Assange was able to surf the internet. Robinson handed him her phone. Using a mapping website, Assange began zooming in on a tiny island chain on the other side of the world. They were trying to work out exactly where they were going. This was not going to be a normal flight.


As Assange clambered aboard the private plane he was joined by Robinson, Pollack and Smith. Assange would have been greatly relieved for more than the obvious reason. A few days earlier he’d had a lengthy discussion with Robinson about paying $782,000 to hire the plane. The terms of his release meant he couldn’t fly with a commercial airline. The trouble was, if the extradition was delayed or even cancelled he would lose his non-refundable deposit. Like at many other times in his life, Assange took a calculated risk.


Onboard, Assange couldn’t have hoped for better company. Unlike many in the Labor camp, Smith had fared well in the thousands of US cables WikiLeaks released, which had revealed the inner thoughts and assessments of the country’s worldwide network of embassies. In 2006 the US ambassador in Canberra had signed off on a report back to Washington that Smith had ‘a sharp mind and a calm manner’. That Smith was viewed favourably by a US administration would reinforce the strong relationship the former prime minister and now Australian ambassador to the US Kevin Rudd had with the Biden administration. Rudd had been an early supporter of Assange when WikiLeaks first burst on to the world stage in 2010, standing by him when the Labor attorney-general at the time, fearing retaliation from the United States for the leaks, threatened to take away his Australian passport.


Just as Rudd had been supportive, Smith had assured Assange that Prime Minister Albanese’s repeated mantra ‘enough is enough’—that Assange should be brought home—was more than an empty platitude. The fact that Smith visited Assange in Belmarsh in his official capacity as Australian high commissioner may not have seemed a bold move in trying to end what the United Nations Special Rapporteur on Torture and Arbitrary Detention described as the torture of an Australian citizen, but it was a big step up from the previous government of Scott Morrison, which had done nothing to help Assange.


Morrison had been in lockstep with the Trump administration and his fellow Christian Evangelist friend, Mike Pompeo, the former director of the US Central Intelligence Agency (CIA). The CIA had spied on Assange while he discussed his defence with his lawyers. It had even drawn up plans to kidnap or kill him while he was in the Ecuadorian Embassy. Little wonder then that the Morrison government showed no interest in helping a citizen who had caused such angst to its great and powerful friend by revealing evidence of their crimes. Morrison and his party were only too happy to allow Assange to languish in prison, arguing disingenuously that he needed to ‘face the music’ in court. It would have been more honest if Morrison had admitted that whatever the United States wanted was fine with him.


Despite a change of government in Australia, the hostility in the United States, particularly from the CIA, continued to haunt Assange. Even on that fine summer’s day as the aircraft taxied down the runway at Stansted, ready for take-off, there was only cautious optimism that the nightmare would soon be ending.


Assange’s ultimate freedom would only come after he signed an agreement with the United States admitting to having broken the Espionage Act of 1917, a dangerous precedent for journalists around the world and one that Assange would fight against in his first public appearance. But before that Assange would have to visit the United States to sign a plea deal.


Even a cursory glance at the globe reveals the quickest way to the United States from the United Kingdom is straight across the North Atlantic. That flight plan had major problems—it would land Assange in the mainland United States, where he had many potentially vengeful enemies.


His legal team had tried hard for a deal that would allow Assange to avoid landing on US soil. If the United States would accept that Assange had committed a misdemeanour—a relatively low-ranked offence—it would be possible for him to plead guilty without having to travel to the United States. But Washington was adamant: Assange would have to face a criminal charge. And that meant having to appear before a US court.


It was then that Rudd came up with an ingenious plan: instead of flying over the North Atlantic, the plane would fly east, refuel in Bangkok and then head further east to its destination, a remote US outpost. It removed the necessity to overfly vast tracts of the United States with all the inherent risks of ending up in an unfriendly jurisdiction where the judge might challenge the deal. It wasn’t possible to remove all the potential problems but risk minimisation mattered immensely to Assange.


The answer to Assange’s fears would be found on a Pacific Island chain in the North Pacific. The US territory of the Northern Mariana Islands, midway between Papua New Guinea and Japan, was as close to judicial heaven on earth that Assange could ever find. While it was part of the United States and bound by US laws, it didn’t have the full status of a state. And whereas its 41 000 residents are US citizens, they can’t vote in US presidential elections. It was unlikely that WikiLeaks had ever been a hot topic on the main island of Saipan, where one of the local US district courts is housed. It’s doubtful, too, that until she got the call from the Department of Justice that a very important prisoner was on their way to her court that the local judge had paid much attention to Julian Paul Assange.


The Northern Mariana Islands’ complex relationship with the United States was intriguing. A perfect location at the perimeter of US legal reach, Assange might not be completely safe there, but he would certainly be safer than sitting in a courtroom in Washington. And he was comparatively close to Australia, if you can call 2800 kilometres close.


As Assange emerged into the bright sunlight from the car that had brought him to the courthouse he looked more like a senior prosecutor than a defendant—a remarkable achievement and a testament to his extraordinary resilience. He was accompanied by Smith and Rudd, who had travelled separately from the United States for Assange’s final flight into Australia.


Inside the court Assange answered that he understood he was pleading guilty to one charge of breaching the US Espionage Act. Chief Judge Ramona V Manglona committed him to 62 months in prison, time already served. In what must have felt like vindication for Assange, the judge added that had he appeared before her twelve years earlier, the sentence might have been different, as she would not have been inclined to accept the deal. It was exactly the reason why Assange had fought so hard to resist extradition to the United States where he had faced the prospect of 175 years’ jail. But with the passage of time, the judge accepted there had been no physical injury as a result of his actions, and he had already served five years in one of the UK’s harshest prisons.


Assange had one major point to make to the court. He couldn’t say he hadn’t done anything wrong, because that would be in breach of his plea deal, but he came close to it.


‘Working as a journalist, I encouraged my source to provide information that was said to be classified in order to publish that information,’ Assange told the court when asked to explain his understanding of the charge.


‘I believed the First Amendment protected that activity. I believe the First Amendment and the Espionage Act are in contradiction.’


* * *


This plea deal had involved long and torturous negotiations. For years the US Department of Justice kept it secret that Assange had been found to have a case to answer by a US grand jury. But there was no hiding from public view in 2019 when the Metropolitan Police stormed the London’s Ecuadorian Embassy where he’d been granted political asylum and dragged him out. Assange was charged with breach of bail conditions and, curiously, a computer intrusion, a ‘holding charge’. Later, seventeen other charges under the 1917 Espionage Act were added. The United States knew that prosecution under the Espionage Act would be more tricky and they believed what amounted to a hacking charge would be easier to prosecute. Assange, on the other hand, had clearly published secret US documents but hadn’t hacked any computers.


With Joe Biden elected US president in 2020 it might have been reasonable to expect a change of tone in the pursuit of Assange. It had been Donald Trump who had resurrected Assange’s prosecution, a move that the Obama administration had stopped, fearful of the backlash if he prosecuted a journalist. Even so, many Democrats erroneously blamed WikiLeaks’ damaging disclosures of how senior Democrat Party executives tried to rig Hillary Clinton’s selection as its presidential candidate for her loss to Donald Trump in 2016, ignoring the fact that she had not been a brilliant candidate. It was only midway through Biden’s term in office, and with the election of a federal Labor government in Australia, that matters changed for the better for the Assange campaign.


But it took time.


In the early days of the Albanese government it was business as usual at Australia’s embassy in Washington. Kevin Rudd, who would play such a prominent role in Assange’s release, had yet to take over. It would be kind to say that Ambassador Arthur Sinodinos had been too busy helping Scott Morrison engineer a secret deal to acquire US nuclear submarines for Australia to help Assange, but more accurate to point out he was following Morrison’s orders to let ‘justice’ take its course.


The warning signs about how Sinodinos would behave were apparent from the moment Morrison won the 2019 federal election and appointed him to Washington. Sinodinos had only been in office a short while in 2020 when Robinson called to brief him on the Assange case. Robinson believed there was a chance he would help, because he had worked with former prime minister Howard to negotiate the release of David Hicks from Guantánamo Bay. Hicks had been arrested by the United States and held on suspicion of training in Al-Qaeda camps.


If Robinson had had access to the Australian Cabinet documents released in 2023, she might have been less hopeful that Sinodinos would play a positive role. While there was huge debate about whether Hicks could be legally held for fighting with the Taliban troops against the invading US military, Cabinet papers revealed that the Australian government had no doubt. They showed that Howard’s government regarded the detention of Hicks as ‘lawful’. Britain and a number of other countries disagreed, and their nationals were freed. It wasn’t until the United States itself investigated cases of wrongful imprisonment years later that Hicks’ conviction was overturned. Hicks had been cut adrift by the Howard government, which had handed over an Australian citizen to the United States, and went along with whatever Washington wanted.


Nearly two decades later Assange would face a similar fate. Sinodinos, Howard’s chief of staff when Hicks was fighting to clear his name, agreed to meet Robinson. Given what we now know might explain how he behaved. It was Robinson’s job as Assange’s legal representative to brief Sinodinos before he headed off to take up his ambassador’s position in Washington.


It is customary for lawyers to represent their clients in confidential briefings. At the levels of ambassador and a well-respected UK-based barrister such as Robinson, recording the conversation indicates a lack of respect and trust. Robinson said she had never experienced that kind of treatment before.


‘He recorded our whole conversation.’ She believed Sinodinos thought she might brief against him to other people. ‘I found it pretty insulting,’ Robinson said.


Sinodinos did nothing to help Robinson, who had gathered signatures from Australian political leaders, including from former foreign minister Bob Carr and former deputy prime minister Barnaby Joyce, for a letter to ask Trump to pardon Assange before he left office.


‘I asked Sinodinos to convey it to the White House and he said “No”, that it was political and he wouldn’t do it. He wouldn’t even convey a letter.’


For Julian Assange and the campaign, it was further evidence that his case was political—persecution for embarrassing the most powerful country on earth, and Australia’s closest ally.


What particularly vexed Robinson was the artifice of not only the argument that Assange had committed a crime, but that politics did not have a role to play in the decision to prosecute. It was just a matter for the US Department of Justice. What riled her most was the argument, particularly advanced by the Morrison government, that the Australian government couldn’t intervene because the law needed to run its course. (Yet the Trump administration had intervened to prosecute Assange, after the Obama administration had decided not to take action.)


‘It was just so frustrating,’ Robinson said. ‘Shouldn’t it be appropriate to intervene to stop a political prosecution that was itself the product of political interference?’


Back in Canberra with a change of government, Robinson was having better luck. She had been briefing Albanese about Assange for the previous decade, long before he became the most powerful politician in Australia. They had a good relationship. However, in the battle for public support being seen as too close to the government could also be counter-productive.


Albanese had made his position clear that ‘enough was enough’ and he wanted the case resolved. His outreach on the case started immediately after he came to power. While Robinson worked closely with Albanese behind the scenes, that did not mean that her public advocacy or work for Assange would change. Albanese and Rudd both understood that she had to keep up the pressure for a resolution—and that there would be times when she would criticise the government if she needed to. She also understood that Albanese and Rudd were having conversations she would never be privy to but trusted that they were doing what they could to get Assange home. As Robinson explained: ‘He had his job as prime minister, I had my job as counsel. Because of our roles, there were a certain amount of things I couldn’t tell him, and a certain amount of things he couldn’t tell me, but I knew we both wanted the same outcome and trusted that we were all doing what we could to get it done. When things stalled or we faced obstacles in the United States, I knew I could talk to Rudd and to the prime minister to see what could be done to keep things moving.’


There was a strategy emerging on how to run the campaign. If Robinson was the ‘good cop’, Assange’s brother Gabriel Shipton was definitely the bad cop. Gabriel put it bluntly: his role was to attack Albanese for not being tough enough on the United States. He was ‘the antagonist’ saying that Albanese ‘hasn’t got any balls’ whereas other members of the team would be ‘nice, sort of warm’ towards the prime minister.


What first ignited Gabriel’s strident activism was a visit to the United Kingdom, linking up with his father John Shipton and the late John Pilger—the Australian journalist and great friend of Assange—to visit Assange in Belmarsh. Gabriel was shocked at what he discovered. He said he had never seen Julian that way before. He was in a terrible state. Usually Gabriel found his brother to be very kind, even in the hard conditions of Belmarsh. ‘He would hold his cool and be very thoughtful.’ But when he visited Assange in 2019 his brother was ‘very intense’ and ‘shrill’; he was ‘scared’. Gabriel said Assange had been placed on ‘suicide watch’. He remembers thinking, ‘if we don’t do something, if I don’t do something, then, um, yeah, might not see him again? I literally left that day thinking that. You know, shit, he could, he could be gone. If I don’t do something then he might not make it.’


From that moment on Gabriel, Pilger and John Shipton knew that time was running out. Only a concerted campaign could save him. It was little wonder that Assange was worried and unsettled. The United States was operating a campaign of vicious vilification against him—a plan ironically first revealed by WikiLeaks when it published a secret military intelligence document. The United States had developed a plan to strike at the gravitational centre of WikiLeaks— in other words, to target Assange with a psychological operation to destabilise the group. Part of that campaign asserted that Assange was not a journalist, in an attempt to peel off the support he’d gained from his disclosures, and the journalism awards he had won as a result. At first the media resisted the obvious attacks on a journalist working with some of the world’s most prestigious newspapers, including Le Monde, the Guardian and the New York Times.


In 2012 I reported on a Four Corners story called ‘Sex, Lies and Julian Assange’ that exposed many of the falsehoods levelled against him and WikiLeaks. By 2017, after years of smears and disinformation, the tide had turned. On Four Corners former presidential candidate Hillary Clinton blamed her loss to Donald Trump the year before on Assange for publishing damaging Democrat Party internal emails (found by an FBI investigation to have been hacked by Russia). After the program went to air, the executive producer Sally Neighbour retweeted that Assange was ‘Putin’s bitch’, a tweet she later removed.


In 2018 ABC breakfast presenter Michael Rowland awarded Ecuador a ‘big gold star’ on Twitter (now X) when the country’s new pro-US administration terminated Assange’s internet access at its London embassy. Rowland criticised those, including me, who questioned his support for Ecuador’s attempts to silence ‘a fellow journalist’. His co-host Lisa Millar, who now presents the ABC TV program Muster Dogs, chimed in on X that those who called Assange a journalist were part of a small camp.


It is important to remember that Assange is a member of the journalists union; the MEAA, the UK High Court and the International Federation of Journalists describe him as a journalist and he has won multiple awards for his journalism. Yet all of this seemed to be of no account. In the following year, 2019, Four Corners reported a two-part program on Assange, ‘Hero or Villain’. It was what New York University’s Associate Professor of Journalism Jay Rosen calls ‘he said, she said journalism’, which allows outrageous and unverifiable claims to be made, provided they are rebutted. The program attempted to undermine Assange’s credibility and painted him as a malign and destructive force. The Sydney Morning Herald, which had benefited from many WikiLeaks stories, relegated the coverage of a US plan to abduct or poison Assange to page 23 of the newspaper.


Confronted with this kind of opposition, Gabriel decided to turn the clock back to the days of the travelling picture show man, the mobile cinema that went from town to town in outback Australia, screening movies. If WikiLeaks couldn’t get their story out through the media it would make its own film and go on the road to promote Assange’s case. The production drew together some of Australia’s best creative talent, telling the personal story of John Shipton and Assange’s wife Stella as they navigated the corridors of power, drumming up support for the cause. Sixty cinemas in the United States screened the film Ithaka, and it was broadcast by the national television network in Mexico, which had the added benefit of allowing millions of people living along the Mexico–US border to see the program on free to air. Ironically, in Australia, it was the ABC—the home of Four Corners—that gave the film star billing, promoting it as a behind-the-scenes view of the campaign waged by Julian Assange’s father and Julian’s wife Stella, revealing ‘the personal cost paid by Julian and the true cost of truth’.


Gabriel told me that the strategy involved creating enough space in the public domain for the politicians to move in their support for Assange. The more the Assange campaign raised public awareness, the easier it was for governments to call for Assange to be released. As the WikiLeaks team travelled the world, they pulled in some notable supporters. Brazilian president-elect Lula da Silva called for Assange to be released. In 2022 Mexico’s president Andrés Manuel López Obrador gave a letter to Joe Biden defending Assange, pointing out that he had not committed ‘any serious crime, did not cause anyone’s death ... and that arresting him would mean a permanent affront to freedom of expression’. The president of Argentina Alberto Fernández added his voice. In 2023 Stella Assange was invited to meet Pope Francis in the Vatican, evidence, she said, of the Pope’s ‘ongoing show of support for our family’s plight’.


But Washington held on. The charges against Assange still stood.


Struggling to break the impasse, in 2023 Gabriel Shipton floated the idea of gathering a delegation that crossed party lines to go to Washington to argue Assange’s case. The Greens’ defence spokesperson David Shoebridge cites Gabriel’s work as fundamental to forming the group, making what he said were ‘the core phone calls’ to draw together what he called a ‘liquoriceliquoriclie all-sorts’ coalition. First to join Shoebridge were Senator Alex Antic and the National Party’s Barnaby Joyce. Both Shoebridge and Joyce found common ground in the issue of Australia’s sovereignty and Assange’s treatment as an Australian citizen.


It’s difficult to imagine a more disparate collection of politicians united by a common cause: Joyce, the former deputy prime minister and former member of the Cabinet national security committee on the Right; Independent federal MP Andrew Wilkie, the only serving intelligence officer to blow the whistle on the fiction of Iraq’s weapons of mass destruction; David Shoebridge, the Greens’ defence spokesperson; Independent MP Monique Ryan; Greens senator Peter Whish-Wilson; and Labor MP Tony Zappia.


Bringing them together had been no easy task but Gabriel Shipton possesses an unusual combination of skills: not only is he a filmmaker and accountant, he is also extremely persuasive. The momentum was now swinging back in Assange’s favour. Polling showed the majority of Australians wanted him returned home and the charges dropped—something that the United States dismissed or didn’t consider important enough to properly brief the Secretary of State Antony Blinken about.


What happened next only helped the campaign.


It’s not usual for the secretary of state for the United States to stumble so badly. But in July 2023, on a warm winter’s day in Brisbane, Blinken did just that. Maybe it was the never-ending international flights dealing with the Ukraine–Russia war or dealing with Israel’s duplicitous prime minister Benjamin Netanyahu that had worn him down, but when Antony Blinken was asked a straightforward question about Julian Assange, he revealed just how little he’d been paying attention to the political climate in Australia. With nearly 60 per cent of the population wanting the prosecution dropped and Assange returned home, Blinken, standing alongside Australia’s Foreign Minister Penny Wong, launched into a diatribe against Assange, asserting that he had undermined US national security and put lives at risk by his disclosures. Yet again, the United States was citing arguments where the evidence pointed in the opposite direction—neither of the claims was true. Blinken rammed home the message that nothing was changing in the United States, saying, ‘just as we understand sensitivities here, it’s important that our friends understand sensitivities in the United States’. In other words: we’ll do what we want with Assange, no matter what the government of Australia wants.


It was a public slap in the face for Australia. What Blinken apparently didn’t understand at the time was just how his arrogance would play out in Australia. Instead of Assange’s supporters cowering to US demands, exactly the opposite happened: the number of Assange supporters swelled to near record levels. As Gabriel Shipton said: ‘It united us like never before.’


The timing was perfect.


In September 2023, the cross-party delegation headed for Washington. Politicians who would hardly have shared the time of day were now travelling together. Shoebridge was nervous: ‘I wasn’t sure how that would work,’ he said. It was an odd place to come together, but that’s what happened as the group met up in the queue at Los Angeles airport. They were changing planes on their way from Australia to Washington. Shoebridge began talking with senators Antic and Joyce. They disagreed on many things, but they were united in one common cause: to get Assange out of prison and back home to Australia.


They arrived late in the afternoon in Washington and after settling in at a hotel on Dupont Circle, not far from the Capitol building, they all went off to dinner. Assange, repeatedly accused of being divisive (as if that was always a bad thing) had pulled off a remarkable achievement from his tiny cell in Belmarsh Prison: he had managed to unite politicians from the extreme Left to the extreme Right. In an increasingly polarised political landscape it was a win for the overarching power of truth and justice.


The plan in Washington was straightforward, Shoebridge explained. The group would meet anyone who would meet them. It might have been expected that they would receive a warm welcome from the Australian Embassy. But, according to Gabriel, that wasn’t the case. It seemed that word hadn’t reached some in the Australian diplomatic corps in Washington that with a change of government in Australia had been a shift in policy.


Some of the staff were operating under the rules of the old Canberra regime. The message was blunt, according to Gabriel. They were told by a senior Australian diplomat who met them, ‘Our position hasn’t changed.’


Gabriel was rightly flabbergasted. He accused the diplomat of being ‘very dismissive ... just a piece of work’. At one meeting with the cross-party delegation, the embassy diplomat sat there and said, ‘Look, none of us want Julian to become a martyr.’


The comment annoyed Gabriel. ‘Become what, sorry?’, he asked. ‘None of us want Julian to be a martyr?’


Gabriel believes the diplomat was being deliberately provocative. The situation became so tense that Barnaby Joyce patted Gabriel on the back to calm him down.


Assange’s father, John Shipton, was less easy to pacify. ‘I just remember that John got very, very angry and started lecturing about how the government had changed position.’


For Gabriel it was disheartening. ‘There had been a change of government, a long struggle, all the ducks lined up, and then, the turkeys who are representing the country in Washington say, well, it’s the same old order.’


As Rudd asserted his control over all embassy activities, the mood changed. ‘They basically got us everything we wanted,’ said Gabriel, but it was still a struggle.


Media coverage was the key: the more the Assange campaign received, the more responsive the embassy became.


‘The government was supportive, but they always needed help— that’s what I really saw our role as doing—assisting the government to do the right thing,’ John Shipton said.


The team drew up a list of people they thought would be crucial. Senator Jim McGovern was near the top. He was close to Biden and had good connections with the Republicans. But McGovern wasn’t answering the phone or responding to emails. It’s not usual that the train from New York to Washington plays a role in Australian politics, but just as Gabriel was about to give up hope, it did just that. Gabriel was travelling to the US Capitol after meetings in New York. As the train clattered past the scenic countryside, Gabriel retreated to the dining car, where he could make phone calls and avoid the frowns and glares from fellow passengers who wanted to travel in silence. As he ordered a coffee, he saw someone who looked like McGovern. Gabriel noticed he was wearing a congressional pin in his lapel and took a chance it was him. It was. Gabriel fixed an appointment.


For the Assange campaign, meeting with McGovern was a big win, but they had their doubts when they entered his office on Capitol Hill. McGovern was sitting under a huge poster from Hillary Clinton’s Senate campaign. A few months earlier a meeting like that would never have happened, Gabriel told me, but it was a real sign that there was a willingness in the Democrat Party to accept that the persecution of Assange was pointless. There was a growing realisation that any journalist would have published the WikiLeaks revelations that showed connivance inside the party executive to give Clinton help to beat her opponent in the primaries, the progressive Left candidate, Senator Bernie Sanders. WikiLeaks hadn’t been responsible for Clinton’s defeat. Even so, it was hard work and McGovern was no pushover. In the middle of one of the conversations, the division bells began ringing, signifying he was needed for an important vote on the floor of the House of Representatives. As if to underscore the labyrinthine nature of the negotiations Gabriel and the others followed him along the corridors and down into the tunnels that connect many of the buildings under the Capitol, pitching the Assange case right up to the door of the chamber.


Not all conversations were as convivial. In what at first hearing appeared to be the kind of folksy homespun yarn that American politicians embrace so fondly, Joyce delivered a strong rebuke. Shoebridge recounts that Joyce told the US politicians: ‘I was the minister responsible for customs and border control. I had two dogs, Pistol and Boo, illegally brought into the country by Johnny Depp and Amber Heard, and I had all the material in front of me to prosecute. We take our border control very seriously. It’s a very serious offence.’


Their Hollywood star had committed a criminal offence in Australia, Joyce told the US politicians, but Australia had decided not to prosecute. The question was: why are you doing this to Julian Assange? We weren’t shits to you, so why are you being shits to Australia?


Shoebridge said he heard Joyce tell the story so many times he thought he was going to suffer a ‘meltdown’ if he heard it one more time.


Over at the State Department the officials sent to deal with the Australian delegation received a similar straightforward message— this time about AUKUS, Australia’s $368 billion deal with the United States and United Kingdom to buy nuclear-powered submarines. It was becoming increasingly unpopular in Australia as the population learned about the details of the deal. Shoebridge, who opposed AUKUS, told the officials that the continued prosecution of Julian Assange gave him a political weapon to use against the United States. Shoebridge says he told them that by ‘you continuing to prosecute Assange serves part of my narrow political interests’.


This whatever-it-takes strategy led the group into some extraordinary coalitions. The Left–Right divisions in Australia are one thing, but in the United States, the Right is sometimes on another planet. They met with Marjorie Taylor Greene. Known for her extreme views and conspiracy theories, she supports the fraudulent claim that the 2020 US election was stolen and denies that global warming is caused by burning fossil fuel. She has also said that the US government can control the weather. It was a measure of the desperation that many in the group felt that they agreed to meet Taylor Greene.


For Shoebridge, it was a moment of political expediency. ‘Bloody hell, if you want to know a weird moment in my career, it’s sitting in Marjorie Taylor Greene’s office, furiously agreeing on something.’ Taylor Greene had long supported Assange’s work linking up with the Left’s Alexandria Ocasio-Cortez and fourteen other members of Congress to write to President Biden, urging the United States to drop its extradition attempts against Assange and halt the prosecution immediately. The group warned that continuing the pursuit of Assange risked their country’s bilateral relationship with Australia.


‘It is the duty of journalists to seek out sources, including documentary evidence, in order to report to the public on the activities of the government,’ the letter to Biden read. ‘The United States must not pursue an unnecessary prosecution that risks criminalising common journalistic practices and thus chilling the work of the free press. We urge you to ensure that this case be brought to a close in as timely a manner as possible.’


In all this political manoeuvring, Gabriel Shipton played a pivotal role. Behind the scenes he was working the phones, but in public he maintained strong pressure on the prime minister to take stronger action to free his brother. It seems that the pressure had some effect.


Time was running out. In the following year, 2024, there would be a US presidential election and it was unlikely that Biden would risk doing a deal during the campaign. On the back of the cross-party campaign in Washington, the Albanese government started ramping up the pressure. It had a dramatic effect. In November 2023, the Department of Justice prosecutors met Assange’s legal team. The WikiLeaks lawyers—led by US lawyer Barry Pollack, with Gareth Peirce and Jennifer Robinson—began working on a possible plea deal in which Assange would plead guilty to the relatively lowly offence of mishandling classified information. The lawyers all had their roles: Peirce handled the UK legal issues, Pollack the negotiations with the US government. Robinson was Assange’s key go-between with the Australian government, trusted by Albanese and Rudd. She was also Assange’s longest serving lawyer with a forensic knowledge of and involvement in the case across all jurisdictions.


As mentioned, the US Department of Justice had originally chosen the crime of ‘computer intrusion’ as a way to settle a plea deal. It was the weakest of all the accusations made by the United States—and the basis for the public accusations about hacking. But it was the one the US prosecutors most favoured because they didn’t have to deal with all the complications that might flow from a successful prosecution of a journalist under the Espionage Act.


There had been problems with that charge. Firstly it ripped away Assange’s protection as a journalist and, just as importantly, it was not a sustainable allegation: in other words, the charge wouldn’t stick. Assange had simply helped Chelsea Manning try to hide her identity when she was legally logging into a secret US military site containing the documents she eventually passed on to WikiLeaks. Any judge would throw it out of court and there wouldn’t be a deal of any kind. The United States wanted to run on their weakest argument, which was bad for them and Assange.


Time was running out. With negotiations now focusing on the publishing of classified material, the question was: could the charge be limited to a misdemeanour rather than a felony—a crime?


Negotiations became extremely difficult. Assange’s legal team was rarely in the same place at the same time, and Assange was in Belmarsh. Word by word, they worked their way through the various drafts of an agreement, making sure that, whatever happened, Assange could not be charged with any other offences. After dozens of phone calls and cross-checking with Assange, the legal team finally reached agreement with the US prosecutors. Assange would not be charged with a felony, which would have meant he had to appear in court in the United States, but he would plead guilty to a series of misdemeanours for handling classified information. He would be able to appear by video link and settle the case without having to be in the United States.


‘The plan was, he’ll do a remote plea from the United Kingdom, get on a plane and go back to Australia,’ Robinson said. The Americans were told: ‘Let’s do a series of misdemeanours because that allows us to protect the red line. You get your guilty plea and Julian doesn’t have to go to the United States.’


After months of negotiating, the deal was done—or so the Assange team thought.


Robinson said she told Albanese, ‘We have done our job. Julian has agreed to this, we have got the agreement with the prosecutors, everybody’s on the same page. The prosecutors have recommended the deal to the Department of Justice, and [they] have recommended it to the Attorney General. We’ve done all we can do, it’s now in the DOJ machine.’


* * *


Weeks passed and nothing happened. What is now clear is that there were huge ructions inside the US Department of Justice opposed to any deal with Assange that would see him charged with anything less than a felony—a crime. A misdemeanour charge was out of the question.


In a highly unusual move, the hierarchy in the Department of Justice removed the Assange brief from the prosecutors and sent it to the deputy attorney-general for national security Lisa Monaco, whose past jobs also included overseeing counterterrorism and espionage cases for the justice department. These actions underlined what had always been the case: the Assange prosecution was not just a legal issue. Now intelligence would have a greater say in what happened as attorneys from the justice department’s national security division picked up the negotiations with Assange’s lawyers.


In Canberra, Robinson urged Albanese and the Australian attorney-general Mark Dreyfus to put added pressure on the United States. They had a deal and they should act on it. On 31 January 2024, Dreyfus made an unexpected trip to the United States. With some fanfare Dreyfus revealed he was in Washington to announce a deal that would help Australian law enforcement access material held on overseas servers. No-one asked the Australian attorneygeneral why he needed to fly all the way to Washington to do that. As important as the agreement may be for Australia’s police, a press release would have been sufficient. What can now be revealed is that Dreyfus had more urgent business: he was there at Albanese’s direction to sort out the Assange case. The photo the attorneygeneral’s department posted on Instagram showed Dreyfus shaking hands with his US counterpart Merrick Garland. Kept secret were the discussions Dreyfus had about Lisa Monaco. The Assange case had been on her desk for over a month—and nothing had moved.


Robinson and Pollack were frustrated at the delay. Robinson understood from Pollack that this was unusual—normally, if he was to negotiate a deal with prosecutors, it would then go before a judge and be done. But this case was being treated differently: it had to go up the chain in the Department of Justice to the attorney-general. Robinson said, ‘It shows again how political this case was.’


In Washington Rudd feverishly worked the phones and his contacts in Congress, the Department of Justice and the intelligence community. It was becoming increasingly important to get the matter resolved. The problem the Assange team had wasn’t just the fast-approaching US election campaign; there was also an upcoming election in the United Kingdom that would complicate matters. If there was anything that might encourage the United States to speed up its decision on Assange, it wasn’t happening in Washington, but on the other side of the Atlantic, in London. Less than a month after Dreyfus flew home to Australia, two UK High Court judges began hearing what many believed would be Assange’s final attempt to stop his extradition. A single judge had rejected his appeal against the UK Home Secretary’s decision to send him to the United States. Now two other judges would decide whether or not he had the right to appeal that decision.


The pressure was building. A week before the decision was to be handed down, Independent MP Andrew Wilkie introduced a motion in the House of Representatives calling for Assange to be returned to Australia. Albanese voted in favour, as did Labor MPs. The Opposition, led by Peter Dutton, largely voted against; there would be no backward step by the hard man of the Australian Right, who like Morrison before him, followed the lead of the United States.


On 26 March, after hearing the arguments from both the lawyers for the United States and the Assange legal team, the court’s King’s Bench Division President Dame Victoria Sharp gave its ruling. It was a dramatic win for Assange. The appeal would go ahead—unless the United States provided guarantees that Assange would not face the death penalty—and that US First Amendment rights could be invoked in his defence.


The death penalty was comparatively easy to deal with, but there were huge problems with the promise that Assange would be able to use the First Amendment to defend his journalism. In a 2020 civil case, the US Supreme Court said that ‘foreign organizations operating abroad have no First Amendment rights’. Rulings from the court in other cases have held that foreign nationals do not have the same free-speech rights as US citizens. The Justice Department was becoming extremely nervous. On 4 April, a US Justice Department lawyer in Europe sent an email warning that the United States was in danger of losing the case. ‘The urgency here has now reached a critical point,’ the Justice Department trial lawyer wrote in an email viewed by the Washington Post. ‘The case will lead to appeal and we will lose.’


On 11 April 2024, with just five days to go before the Justice Department was scheduled to give the UK High Court the assurances it needed to prevent the appeal against extradition being heard, Joe Biden ran into some unexpected questioning as he strolled along the famous White House colonnade. It was the fifth anniversary of Assange being evicted from the Ecuadorian Embassy, and Biden was asked by a reporter: ‘Do you have a response to Australia’s request that you end Julian Assange’s prosecution?’


Biden said, ‘We’re considering it.’


Had Biden misheard the question? Did he, as Kristinn Hrafnsson believes, think he’d been asked if the United States was considering ‘bringing the case to an end’ or a different proposition put to him by the reporter—dropping the prosecution altogether?


Whatever Biden did or did not mean to say, the White House was embroiled in some tricky manoeuvring. No-one in the Assange camp expected what happened next. Robinson received a phone call from Pollack, who had just spoken to the Department of Justice. The plan was as audacious as it was exotic, and it marked the beginning of the end of one of the world’s most extraordinary and important legal battles over freedom of speech and journalism. To overcome demands that Assange plead guilty to a felony but also deal with his refusal to enter the United States, the Department of Justice proposed that Assange fly to Guam and settle the case there. The location was later switched to Saipan in the Northern Mariana Islands. Given what we know now it doesn’t seem so crazy, but when Pollack told Robinson she was truly astounded. She now understood what had happened to the agreement which had been sitting on Monaco’s desk—it had been torn up.


‘He said “they want a felony and they want the Espionage Act”. And I said: “they actually want him to plead guilty to journalism? This is wild”.’


On 20 May the UK High Court decision put increased pressure on the Biden administration. The United Kingdom had accepted American assurances that Assange would not be subjected to the death penalty but had allowed his appeal to go ahead on the basis that he might not be able to use the First Amendment as a defence for publishing US secrets. It looked like the Assange team were on the home stretch. With the High Court decision in its favour, the Assange legal team could now wring out a list of concessions from the Americans, who feared that if this deal fell through, Assange could opt to go through with the appeal—an appeal he seemed likely to win.


The worldwide campaign of his thousands, if not millions, of supporters plus the election of a federal Labor government had finally brought Assange home. His legal team had negotiated a number of agreements with the United States, which meant he couldn’t be prosecuted and would not have to fear the risk of being extradited again for his activities. Significantly, the agreement said that the release of the WikiLeaks documents had not caused any harm to any individual and the US government could not identify one individual who was entitled to restitution as a result of the WikiLeaks publications. As Robinson points out: ‘Now, this comes after years and years of government statements saying that WikiLeaks put lives at risk, that people were killed because of these disclosures.’


‘The second point that’s really important, is after years of accusing him of hacking, of somehow doing something different to journalism, if you read that statement of facts by the US government, there is no reference to hacking—it is all about receiving and publishing information from a source—and that is absolutely journalistic activity.’


As the aircraft descended into Canberra airport on 26 June Robinson received a phone call from her father and another from Jeremy Corbyn, the former UK Labor Party leader. She passed the phone over to Assange. Assange also received a phone call from the person who had done more than anyone else to gain his freedom— Albanese. Assange told the prime minister: ‘You saved my life.’ It was not an exaggeration.


For all the long struggle, the case had brought some clarity to the vexed question of what journalists have the potential to do every day—publishing documents that governments claim are endangering national security. By attempting to extend their reach around the world, the United States had over-reached. It exposed a double standard of justice. American journalists might be guaranteed the protection of the First Amendment, but there would be no protection for any journalist who wasn’t a US citizen operating overseas. There was one rule for the United States, and another for everyone else. The calling out by the UK High Court of this clear case of prejudice might make US governments in the future think twice about taking on organisations like WikiLeaks. Journalists always have to contend with a US government that was prepared to break the law, and the threat to Assange’s life is evidence enough of that possibility. Unfortunately for Assange, as part of the plea agreement, he is prevented from bringing any legal action against the United States. The only way to overcome that obstacle would be if he received a pardon. If that were ever to occur, he would have a good case, particularly against the CIA and their illegal activities against him while he was holed up in London’s Ecuadorian Embassy.





INTRODUCTION [2020]


A sunny spring evening in Madrid. WikiLeaks editor-in-chief Kristinn Hrafnsson and the organisation’s Spanish lawyer Aitor Martínez meet up at a café in the palatial Reina Victoria hotel in the city centre. Three men approach their table and introduce themselves. One is a journalist, the other two are ‘computer experts’, but what they are doing on that April evening in 2019 involves neither journalism nor any particular expertise in computing. They’ve turned their hands to something far more dangerous and potentially rewarding.


On a laptop they show Hrafnsson and Martínez an extraordinary sight: video and audio recordings of the WikiLeaks founder Julian Assange inside London’s Ecuadorian Embassy where he had taken refuge in 2012, talking with his lawyers, and meeting journalists and supporters.


The three men want money for the footage and believe they can get 9 million euros. They will sell to the highest bidder and mention that a foreign TV station is interested. Although Martínez and Hrafnsson want to know why it’s worth anything to see Assange in the embassy, Hrafnsson negotiates with them and discusses the sum of 3 million euros. What the amateur extortionists—who claim to be working for freedom of expression and who support Assange— don’t know is that every word is being recorded. Both Hrafnsson and Martínez are wired for sound.


Martínez asks them, ‘If you are benefactors working for freedom of expression and for Assange’s legal battle, why do you want money?’


‘We have to put food on the table too’, replies one of the men.


Hrafnsson had been alerted that the material was on offer on Twitter. He had made contact, but he’d also tipped off the Spanish police. Several officers from the Kidnapping and Extortion department are nearby recording every word of the conversation. The deal has hardly been clinched when the police pounce. The audio recordings and surveillance footage, covertly shot by Hrafnsson as he sat at the table, are enough to arrest two of the men.


It could be reasonably argued that uncovering the espionage operation against Assange might have tipped the scales of justice in his favour. The only charge Assange faced in the United Kingdom at the time was the relatively minor offence of skipping bail when he entered the Ecuadorian Embassy. Sex allegations against him by two Swedish women had long been dropped. But on 11 April 2019, within hours of Hrafnsson calling a press conference in London to reveal the covert operation at the Ecuadorian Embassy, the Metropolitan Police stormed in and dragged Assange out. Exposing the internal surveillance had seemingly forced the British Government’s hand.


* * *


For the seven years that Julian Assange lived there, the Ecuadorian Embassy, just around the corner from Harrods the luxury department store in Knightsbridge, was publicly recognised as one of the most surveilled places in the world from the outside. In the early days, shortly after Assange sought political asylum in 2012, the security was obvious. Dozens of police surrounded the ornate Queen Anne style red brick building in a show of force.


As the months passed, the number of uniformed police dwindled, but in their place arose a more insidious threat. Across the road from the embassy high resolution cameras peered down on every person who entered the building.


When I first visited Assange at the embassy in November 2013 I was stopped at the door by a uniformed officer from the Metropolitan Police who demanded my name. I told him he had no right to ask and he went no further. It was an act of mild intimidation.


Inside, as we sat down to talk in the booklined conference room, Assange opened the window. Along with a fresh breeze the noise of trucks delivering goods to Harrods entered the narrow room, making it harder for us to be overheard. During another meeting, although the window remained closed, Assange turned on a machine that created ‘white noise’ to make the job of eavesdropping that much harder. He had every reason to be concerned about his conversations being overheard. Just a few months earlier a bugging device had been discovered under the desk in the ambassador’s office in the next room. Exactly who planted it there is still a mystery, but suspicion fell on everyone from the US Central Intelligence Agency (CIA) to the UK’s domestic spies at MI5 to renegade Ecuadorian intelligence officers opposed to the then Ecuadorian president Rafael Correa who had granted Assange asylum. Just who was spying on whom at the embassy became what former CIA counterintelligence chief James Jesus Angleton famously described as ‘a wilderness of mirrors’.


Without taking into account what other countries were up to, the British Government itself was spending £4 million a year on watching the embassy. British security agencies photographed and identified everyone who entered the embassy. Assange estimated that employed thirty people a day.


The embassy already had its own security and surveillance operations in place. They were run by a little-known company based in the Spanish town of Jerez de la Frontera. Twelve kilometres inland from the Atlantic Coast, close to the Cádiz mountains, Jerez de la Frontera is better known for its fortified wine than spying. But not far from the ancient city centre, former Spanish naval officer David Morales had managed to build a successful business, Undercover Global (UC Global), specialising in security and surveillance. In 2015 Ecuador signed a contract with Morales to protect its London embassy. What we now know is that sometime later, according to documents filed in a Spanish court, UC Global began working as a double agent, around January 2017. The material the company gathered wasn’t only being collected for the Ecuadorian Government; secret access to the UC Global server had been given to others, with the explicit instruction from Morales that the Ecuadorian Government was not to be told about this special arrangement.


Morales boasted repeatedly to his staff in emails that ‘I have gone to the dark side’ and that ‘those in control are the American friends’. Morales spoke of ‘US intelligence’ and believed ‘the North American will get us a lot of contracts around the world.’ Questioning the euphemistic references to ‘Americans’, one employee demanded to know exactly who they were working for. According to a court statement, Morales replied: ‘la inteligencia de los Estados Unidos’ (United States intelligence).


Whatever the truth of that, material from surveillance of the Ecuadorian Embassy certainly ended up with the US Government. Detailed evidence pieced together during research for this book unmasks at least some of the secret recipients of Assange’s private conversations. As we shall see in the final chapter, the trail goes all the way to the US State Department and a Trump family advisor.


UC Global’s spying activities might have remained secret but for that clumsy attempt to extort 3 million euros from WikiLeaks. It was bad luck for Morales. The extortionists had nothing to do with his company, but their greed exposed what he had been up to. When the Spanish police raided Morales’ home, they found 20 000 euros and guns with their serial numbers filed off. Morales was charged with privacy violations, illegal possession of guns and money laundering. At the company headquarters police seized computers, mobile phones and thousands of records. As they sifted through the material, details of UC Global’s secrets began spilling out.


* * *


At first UC Global recorded just the vision from cameras monitoring the embassy, consistent with their contract to provide security and to prevent break-ins. But in December 2017 the company installed microphones. They also started paying closer attention to visitors’ telephones, photographing them when they were left at the front desk, and logging each phone’s IMEI (International Mobile Equipment Identity)—its unique identifying number.


Whoever had access to this material knew who had visited Assange, and could track their conversations while they were in the embassy and after the visitor left. The phone became a mobile tracking device which revealed where its owner lived, worked and travelled. Its microphone could be turned on at will and conversations recorded, even while the phone was not in use. Most importantly, according to the documents, Assange’s conversations with his legal team were being recorded. Assange’s barrister, the Australian human rights lawyer Geoffrey Robertson QC, can be seen in the surveillance footage entering the embassy and walking into the room with Assange. My name was logged in the UC Global records. Morales also instructed that special attention be given to recording the conversations between Assange and another of his lawyers, Australian Jennifer Robinson. The significance of this level of intrusion is a clear breach of lawyer–client confidentiality and could render the US charges against Assange invalid. It forms the basis of one of the charges against Morales that he violated the law relating to confidential discussions between a lawyer and client. Morales has told prosecutors he was merely working for the Ecuadorian Government.


Yet Assange knew nothing about the information being assembled against him. All he knew was that the United States had empanelled a grand jury—the US system of gathering information and compelling witnesses to attend in secret—to investigate him and WikiLeaks. It’s a dark joke among US lawyers that a grand jury is so easy to persuade it would indict a ham sandwich. Any prosecution would take place in the Alexandria courthouse in the Eastern District of Virginia, where most national security cases are heard. The chances of a successful defence for anyone brought before this court is remote. It has a very high percentage of successful prosecutions, possibly because its juries are selected from a community where 85 percent of the population work in national security—the CIA, the NSA, the Defense Department or the State Department. The fortresslike courthouse, where the United States would prosecute Assange under the Espionage Act 1917, is just eight kilometres south of the Pentagon.


It would have seemed impossible only a few years ago for a journalist, who had committed no crime in the United States, and who was not a US citizen, to be charged under a law which alleged the journalist was working as a spy, when there was no evidence they had passed the information on to anyone but the general public. The far-reaching consequences of a successful prosecution are there for all to see: US President Donald Trump, who had labelled the media the ‘Enemy of the American People’ would try to use his country’s extradition treaties to silence any journalist anywhere in the world who exposed American wrongdoing. In Assange’s case it meant the possibility of life in prison, a maximum sentence of 175 years.


As the grand jury gathered its evidence, Morales was on one of his regular visits to the United States. Who he was meeting is not known, but his internet provider (IP) address on emails he sent his staff places him in the vicinity of the Alexandria courthouse, and not far from the Pentagon. Morales was so concerned about anyone knowing where he was that he demanded his staff be careful about disclosing his whereabouts—‘especially my trips to the US’—and to be very careful about the information they ‘send over’.


Morales’ emails also give an insight into one of the most intriguing media stories about supposed Russian involvement with WikiLeaks and how the investigating journalists got it so wrong. On 22 November 2018, in what appears to be an attempt to crosscheck information received from an inquiry from outside UC Global, Morales asked his employees whether they had any records of visits to the embassy in 2013, 2015 and 2016 by Paul Manafort, Donald Trump’s election campaign manager.


Just five days after the Morales email, on 27 November 2018 the Guardian splashed a sensational story that Assange had met Manafort at the Ecuadorian Embassy. The years that the Guardian story quoted when the meetings were supposed to have taken place matched exactly the dates in Morales’ email: ‘2013, 2015 and 2016.’ What is problematic for the veracity of the Guardian story is that if Manafort had visited the embassy his name would have been recorded in the list kept by embassy staff (as mine was). Even according to the Guardian report, there was no record of Manafort ever being at the embassy. It’s inconceivable that he would have been able to enter unnoticed. There would have been at least one photograph or video of such a recognisable person as Manafort at the highly surveilled building.


Perhaps unsurprisingly, the Guardian ‘exclusive’ remained just that—a story only the Guardian had: not one other news outlet in the entire world managed to corroborate the report. Curiously the original Guardian print edition report of the Manafort story carried three bylines: Luke Harding, a reporter who had written extensively on WikiLeaks; Dan Collyns, a freelance reporter based in South America; and a third person, whose name mysteriously disappeared from the online report once the veracity of the story was questioned.


The person whose name vanished, Fernando Villavicencio, has been closely linked to right-wing groups in Ecuador that were funded by the United States. Villavicencio, a former union representative in the oil industry, made a name for himself writing articles in Ecuador’s media—particularly about WikiLeaks. Luke Harding, as well as sharing a byline for the Manafort story, also cited Villavicencio as a source for an earlier Guardian report which boasted it had access to the UC Global embassy surveillance tapes. The Guardian clearly had second thoughts about the story, as it changed some of the wording of the original report on Manafort, and altered the headline from ‘Manafort Held Secret Talks with Assange in Embassy’ to a qualified claim that ‘Manafort Held Secret Talks with Assange in Ecuadorian Embassy, Sources Say.’ There has been no clarification from the Guardian about why the story was so wrong. As WikiLeaks editor-in-chief Kristinn Hrafnsson said: the Guardian had been duped by ‘relying on information from a CIA operation’.


Harding’s report undermines the Guardian’s remarkable record as a newspaper which holds the powerful to account. If Harding were misled, he would not have been the first reporter to have suffered that indignity, but the editors who allowed him to publish a story that lacked evidence or corroboration for its assertion should be held to account. For such an important story, fiddling with the headline and some of the wording does not let Harding or the Guardian off the hook. Harding’s journalism has a history of sailing close to the wind. Private Eye awarded him Plagiarist of the Year in 2007 for quoting material without attribution, and his book Collusion—detailing Russian attempts to influence the 2016 US presidential election— might have topped the New York Times bestseller list but it was not as accurate as its title suggested.


The investigation by FBI director Robert Mueller suggested Trump might have a case to answer for obstruction of justice but he couldn’t find what Harding said he had discovered—collu- sion—between Russia and the Trump 2016 presidential campaign. The Harding story played a key part in the attack on WikiLeaks. If Assange was linked to Russia it would make the espionage element of the charges he faced much easier to prosecute—stripping away his defence that he was working as a journalist and was thus covered by the free speech protection of the US Constitution’s First Amendment. If Manafort had met Assange the only missing link was Russian involvement. Without the Manafort connection the collusion was far more difficult to prove.


Assange was under assault from both sides of US politics. Trump wanted him prosecuted but didn’t want the prosecution linked to Russia. The Democrats were convinced Russia was involved and also wanted Assange prosecuted for very clear reasons.


* * *


In 2016 WikiLeaks had released a tranche of emails that revealed that the Democratic National Convention (DNC) executive had briefed Hillary Clinton about the strategy of her rival, Senator Bernie Sanders, before they debated each other in the race to become the party’s presidential candidate. That the emails were true and the story was accurate did not stop the attack on Assange. The media accused him of being a Russian stooge.


By 2017, with Robert Mueller and his FBI team digging deep into a possible conspiracy between Russia and the White House, Trump was desperate to keep the Russians out of the frame. As extraordinary as it might seem, as we shall see, there were even attempts at deals with the US Department of Justice through back channels which might have seen Assange help the CIA tighten up its lax security. In exchange, Assange would have been free to leave the embassy. The fact that they came to nothing seemed more like an attempt to weaken Assange’s resolve than to reach any genuine settlement.


The US actions fit a tight narrative that can be turned on or off at will. It has seen Assange vilified by an often compliant media—part of a US psychological and disinformation operation that involves in part planting false stories. The strategy was first outlined back in 2008, two years after Assange set up WikiLeaks. A top secret report marked NoFor (No Foreigners)—not to be shared with anyone other than US officials, not even the US’s Five Eyes intelligence partners, the United Kingdom, Canada, New Zealand and Australia—suggested that the best way to destroy WikiLeaks, which it identified as a threat to the US military, was to undermine its credibility. Wikileaks.org used ‘trust as a center of gravity’ according to the report produced by the US military National Counterintelligence and Security Center. And the best way to destroy that trust was ‘the identification, exposure, or termination of employment of or legal actions against current or former insiders, leakers, or whistle-blowers [which] could damage or destroy this center of gravity’.
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